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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

EASTERN DIVISION

HANOVER INSURANCE COMPANY

Plaintiff,
v.

GROEB FARMS, INC., ERNEST L.
GROEB, TROY L. GROEB,

and

CHRIS MOORE d/b/a MOORE’S HONEY
FARM, COX HONEY OF UTAH, LLC,
BRETT ADEE d/b/a ADEE HONEY
FARMS, KELVIN ADEE d/b/a ADEE
HONEY FARMS, individually and as the
representative of a putative class of similarly
situated persons,

and

ADEE HONEY FARMS, BILL RHODES
HONEY COMPANY, LLC, and
HACKENBERG APIARIES, individually and
as the representative of a putative class of
similarly situated persons,

Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

No.

Presiding Judge:

Magistrate Judge:

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

NOW COMES Plaintiff, HANOVER INSURANCE COMPANY, by and through its

attorneys, LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP, and for its Complaint for

Declaratory Judgment against Defendants, GROEB FARMS, INC., ERNEST L. GROEB, TROY

L. GROEB, CHRIS MOORE d/b/a MOORE’S HONEY FARM, COX HONEY OF UTAH,

LLC, BRETT ADEE d/b/a ADEE HONEY FARMS, KELVIN ADEE, d/b/a ADEE HONEY
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FARMS, ADEE HONEY FARMS, BILL RHODES HONEY COMPANY, LLC and

HACKENBERG APIARIES, alleges, states, and avers the following:

THE PARTIES

1. Plaintiff Hanover Insurance Company (“Hanover”) is a corporation organized

under the laws of the State of New Hampshire, with its principal place of business in Worcester,

Massachusetts.

2. Defendant Groeb Farms, Inc. (“Groeb Farms”) is a corporation organized under

the laws of the State of Michigan, with its principal place of business in Onsted, Michigan.

3. Defendant Ernest L. Groeb is a citizen and resident of the State of Michigan and

was the President, CEO and a Director of Groeb Farms.

4. Defendant Troy L. Groeb is a citizen of the State of Florida and was a senior

executive at Groeb Farms (Ernest L. Groeb and Troy L. Groeb are referred to as the “Groeb

Executives”).

5. Defendant Chris Moore d/b/a Moore’s Honey Farm (“Moore”) is a honey

producer and packer with its principal place of business in Houston, Texas and, by virtue of its

status as a plaintiff and representative of a putative class in the Moore Lawsuit, is named as a

potentially interested party.

6. Defendant Cox Honey of Utah, LLC is a honey producer and wholesaler with its

principal place of business in Mendon, Utah and, by virtue of its status as a plaintiff

representative of a putative class in the Moore Lawsuit, is named as a potentially interested

party.

7. Defendant Brett Adee d/b/a Adee Honey Farms is a honey producer and

wholesaler with its principal place of business in Toronto, South Dakota and, by virtue of its
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status as a plaintiff representative of a putative class in the Moore Lawsuit, is named as a

potentially interested party.

8. Defendant Kelvin Adee d/b/a Adee Honey Farms is a honey producer and

wholesaler with its principal place of business in Toronto, South Dakota and, by virtue of its

status as a plaintiff representative of a putative class in the Moore Lawsuit, is named as a

potentially interested party.

9. Defendant Adee Honey Farms is a General Partnership based in South Dakota

that produces and sells honey and, by virtue of its status as a plaintiff representative of a putative

class in the Adee Lawsuit, is named as a potentially interested party.

10. Defendant Bill Rhodes Honey Company, LLC is a Florida Limited Liability

Company that produces and sells honey and, by virtue of its status as a plaintiff representative of

a putative class in the Adee Lawsuit, is named as a potentially interested party.

11. Defendant Hackenberg Apiaries is a General Partnership based in Pennsylvania

that produces and sells honey and, by virtue of its status as a plaintiff representative of a putative

class in the Adee Lawsuit, is named as a potentially interested party.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

12. This Court has jurisdiction here under 28 U.S.C. § 1332 in that there is complete

diversity of citizenship between the parties and the amount in controversy exceeds the sum of

$75,000, exclusive of interest and costs.

13. Venue is appropriate under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 in that many of the acts that give

rise to this action, including the filing of the Underlying Lawsuits, occurred in this district.

14. An actual controversy exists between Hanover, on the one hand, and all

Defendants, on the other hand and, by the terms and provisions of Rule 57 of the Federal Rules
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of Civil Procedure and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, this Court is vested with the power to

declare the rights and liabilities of the parties hereto and to grant such relief as it deems

necessary and proper.

THE UNDERLYING LAWSUITS

15. On April 17, 2013, Chris Moore d/b/a Moore’s Honey Farm, Cox Honey of Utah,

LLC, Brett Adee d/b/a Adee Honey Farms and Kelvin Adee d/b/a Adee Honey Farms,

individually and as the representatives of a class of similarly situated persons, filed a Class

Action Complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, case no. 1:13-

cv-02922 (“the Moore Lawsuit”). The Moore Lawsuit names Groeb Farms, Inc., Ernest L.

Groeb, Troy L. Groeb and Horizon Partners, Ltd, Inc. as Defendants. A true and correct copy of

the Class Action Complaint filed in the Moore Lawsuit is attached hereto and incorporated

herein as Exhibit A (“the Moore Complaint”).

16. On April 18, 2013, Adee Honey Farms, Bill Rhodes Honey Company, LLC and

Hackenberg Apiaries, individually and as the representatives of a class of similarly situated

persons, also filed a Class Action Complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District

of Illinois, case no. 1:13-cv-02922 (“the Adee Lawsuit”, the Moore Lawsuit and the Adee

Lawsuit are collectively referred to as “the Underlying Lawsuits”). The Class Action Complaint

filed in the Adee Lawsuit names Groeb Farms, Inc., Horizon Partners Ltd., Honey Holdings 1,

Ltd. d/b/a Honey Solutions as Defendants. A true and correct copy of the Class Action

Complaint filed in the Adee Lawsuit is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit B

(“the Adee Complaint”).

17. The Moore Complaint and the Adee Complaint (collectively referred to as

“Underlying Complaints”) are each based on similar schemes, specifically that Groeb Farms and
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Horizon engaged in a worldwide conspiracy to deceive government import authorities about the

origin of honey produced in China, avoid paying the corresponding antidumping duties on the

Chinese honey, defraud the U.S. honey market and substantially injure Plaintiffs and Class

Members, who are legitimate domestic honey producers and packers.

THE MOORE COMPLAINT

18. The Moore Complaint is brought on behalf of “All individuals and entities that

produced, packed, sold and/or distributed honey in the United States, from January 1, 2000 to the

present.” (¶ 66).

19. In the Moore Complaint, Plaintiffs allege that the Defendants committed fraud,

negligent misrepresentation, conspiracy, and clandestine and wrongful importation and dumping

of Chinese honey (and possibly honey from other unlawful source countries) on the United

States honey market without paying the corresponding antidumping duties.

20. Dumping occurs when imported goods are sold in the United States at less than

fair value; dumping is generally considered to be an unfair trade practice. (¶ 41).

21. Antidumping duties are intended to counter international price discrimination that

injures United States industries by dumping goods, thereby promoting fair competition between

United States industries and foreign industries. (¶ 42).

22. Plaintiffs allege that beginning as early as 2002, Groeb Farms purchased,

received, processed, filtered, blended, packaged, marketed, sold, and distributed bulk honey that

was illegally transshipped and illegally mislabeled to retail, foodservice, and industrial

customers in the United States.

23. Plaintiffs allege that the Defendants deceived government import authorities

about the origin of honey produced in China to avoid paying the corresponding antidumping
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duties on the Chinese honey, defraud the United States honey market and substantially injury

Plaintiffs and Class Members - legitimate domestic honey producers and packers-in their

business and property. (¶ 21).

24. The Groeb Executives and Horizon are alleged to have engaged in an open-ended

scheme to (i) illegally transship honey and mis-declare honey originating in China (and possibly

other unlawful source countries), including honey containing adulterated antibiotics, through

intermediate countries to the United States, (ii) defraud Government import authorities by

misrepresenting that the Chinese-origin honey (a) originated in countries other than China and/or

(b) was not honey, but other products, including sugars and syrups so as to avoid paying

antidumping duties, (iii) dump, market, sell, and distribute the illegally imported and

fraudulently declared Chinese-origin honey throughout the United States, (iv) undercut and

destroy their competition (i.e. Plaintiffs and Class Members), and (v) substantially depress the

price of honey legitimately produced, packed, marketed, and sold in the United States. (¶ 62).

25. Defendants are also alleged to have conspired to received income (i.e., revenues

from their sales of illegally imported and fraudulently declared Chinese-origin honey wrongfully

dumped on the United States honey market) derived, directly or indirectly, from [their pattern of

unlawful activity]. (¶ 68)

26. Dumping is a form of international price discrimination because it artificially

lowers the price of a product such as honey, and undercuts the competition. Plaintiffs allege that

by reason of Defendants “dumping” activity, Defendants substantially depressed the price of

honey legitimately produced, packed, marketed and sold in the United states by Plaintiffs and

Class Members, damaged the Government in its governmental functions and damaged Plaintiffs

and Class Members in their businesses and/or property. (¶ 2).
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27. Count I of the Moore Complaint is brought against Ernest L. Groeb, Troy L.

Groeb, and Horizon Partners and alleges violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) (Racketeer Influenced

and Corrupt Organizations Act, “RICO”). In Count I, Plaintiffs allege that by the

aforementioned illegal dumping, the Defendants committed multiple, repeated and continuous

acts of mail fraud and/or interstate and/or foreign wire fraud, which affected interstate and/or

foreign commerce with the meaning of the RICO statute.

28. Count II of the Moore Complaint is brought against Ernest L. Groeb, Troy L.

Groeb, Groeb Farms and Horizon Partners and alleges violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). In

Count II, Plaintiffs allege the Defendants conspired to violate the RICO statute, and to receive

income from this alleged pattern of unlawful activity.

29. Count III of the Moore Complaint is brought against Ernest L. Groeb, Troy L.

Groeb, Groeb Farms and Horizon Partners and alleges violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) for

conspiring to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). In Count III, Plaintiffs allege that these Defendants

conspired to conduct and/or participate in this alleged pattern of unlawful activity, deriving

income therefrom..

30. Count IV is brought against Ernest L. Groeb, Troy L. Groeb, Groeb Farms and

Horizon Partners and alleges Negligent Misrepresentation. Plaintiffs allege that the Defendants

negligently misrepresented the above-described wrongful acts to cause the Chinese honey to be

illegally transshipped and mislead government authorities regarding the honey, to avoid paying

antidumping duties and then dump the illegally imported and intentionally fraudulently declared

Chinese-origin honey into the U.S. market for the purpose of undercutting and financially

harming their competition.
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31. Count V is brought against Ernest L. Groeb, Troy L. Groeb, Groeb Farms and

Horizon Partners and alleges Unjust Enrichment. Plaintiffs allege that by the aforementioned

conduct, the Defendants were unjustly enriched.

32. As relief, Plaintiffs seek actual, consequential, and/or incidental damages in the

form of, inter alia, business destruction, lost profits, lost business opportunities, Defendants’

gross revenues on the sales of the illegally imported and fraudulently declared Chinese-origin

honey, and restitution and/or disgorgement of these gross revenues. Plaintiffs also seek punitive

damages, RICO Treble Damages, injunctive relief, and attorney’s fees and costs.

33. Defendants first reported the Moore claim to Hanover on April 25, 2013.

THE ADEE COMPLAINT

34. The Adee Complaint is brought on behalf of “all individuals and entities with

commercial beekeeping operations (300 or more hives) that produced and sold honey in the

United States during the period from 2001 to the present. (¶ 113).

35. In the Adee Complaint, Plaintiffs allege Defendants’ knowing involvement in an

international scheme to purchase, package, ship, and sell illegally imported and fraudulently

labeled honey from China in order to avoid paying U.S. antidumping duties. (¶ 2).

36. Plaintiffs allege that Defendants have knowingly and intentionally purchased,

packaged, distributed, and sold falsely labeled honey, and, in doing so, deceived consumers and

purchasers as well as subjected those consumers and purchasers to potential health risks. (¶ 5).

37. Additionally, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants continue to harm domestic

producers of honey by dumping Chinese honey into the domestic market at below fair market

prices. (¶ 5).



4819-2089-7300.1 -9-

38. Count I of the Adee Complaint is brought against Groeb Farms, Horizon Partners

and Honey Solutions and alleges false advertising under 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a) (Lanham Act). In

Count I, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants sold unmarked or mismarked products to customers in

the United States without disclosing the actual origin of the goods, which was part of a scheme

that allowed them to sell these products at prices higher than they would otherwise be able to

charge if the products had been properly marked as a illegally transshipped honey, adulterated

honey, and/or made from a blend of artificial sweeteners,

39. Count II of the Adee Complaint is brought against Groeb Farms, Horizon Partners

and Honey Solutions and alleges unfair competition under 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). In Count II,

Plaintiffs allege that Defendants used false designations of origin and false descriptions or

representations by purchasing “honey” products from Chinese producers knowing they have

been transshipped and mislabeled and then causing such products to be imported into, sold in and

distributed throughout the United States.

40. Count III of the Adee Complaint is brought against Groeb Farms, Horizon

Partners and Honey Solutions and alleges RICO violations. In Count III, Plaintiffs allege that

Defendants engaged in a pattern of racketeering activity by committing mail and wire fraud, as

well as violating statutes prohibiting false statements and entry of goods by means of false

statements, with the purpose of evading duties applicable to Chinese honey products,

underselling domestically produced honey products, and enhancing Defendants’ own profits.

41. As relief, Plaintiffs seek disgorgement of Defendants’ profits, three times their

damages, costs and fees.

42. Defendants first reported the Adee claim to Hanover on April 25, 2013.
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43. Prior to the filing of the Underlying Complaints, the Defendants admitted the

alleged conduct. On February 11, 2013, Groeb Farms entered into a Deferred Prosecution

Agreement with the Government for the wrongful acts constituting a portion of the basis of this

action and paid a $2 million USD fine. The Deferred Prosecution Agreement was entered by the

Court on February 20, 2013. (The Deferred Prosecution Agreement is attached as Exhibit A to

the Moore Complaint).

THE MANAGEMENT LIABILITY POLICY

44. Hanover issued Private Company Management Liability Insurance Policy No.

LHH 9542775 00, effective May 1, 2012 to July 15, 2013, to Groeb Farms, Inc. (“the

Management Liability Policy”). A true and correct copy of the Management Liability Policy is

attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit C.

45. The Management Liability Policy includes a Directors, Officers and Corporate

Liability (“D&O/Corporate”) Coverage Part, and provides a $5,000,000 aggregate limit inclusive

of Defense Expenses, subject to a $10,000 retention for Individual Indemnified Liability

Coverage and Corporate Entity Coverage. With respect to Claims under Insuring Agreement A

(Individual Non-indemnified Liability coverage), Executives are entitled to an additional

$500,000 aggregate limit.

46. The D&O/Corporate Coverage Part of the Management Liability Policy contains

the following insuring agreements:

I. INSURING AGREEMENTS

A. Individual Non-Indemnified Liability

We will pay, on behalf of each “Insured Individual”, “Loss” which the
“Insured Individual” is legally obligated to pay because of “Claims”
made against the “Insured Individual” during the “Policy Period” and
reported to us for any “Wrongful Act” to which this insurance applies
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except for “Loss” which the “Insured Entity” pays to or on behalf of the
“Insured Individual” as indemnification.

B. Individual Indemnification Liability

We will pay, on behalf of the “Insured Entity”, “Loss” which an
“Insured Individual” is legally obligated to pay because of “Claims”
made against that “Insured Individual” during the “Policy Period” and
reported to us for any “Wrongful Act” to which this insurance applies
but only to the extent the “Insured Entity” indemnifies the “Insured
Individual” for such “Loss”.

C. Corporate Entity Liability

We will pay “Loss” which the “Insured Entity” is legally obligated to
pay because of “Claims” made against the “Insured Entity” during the
“Policy Period” and reported to us during the “Policy Period” for any
“Wrongful Act” to which this insurance applies.

D. Securityholder Derivative Demand Liability

We will pay “Investigative Costs” on behalf of the “Insured Entity”
resulting from any “Securityholder Derivative Demand” made and
reported during the “Policy Period”, or if applicable, an Extended
Reporting Period, for any “Wrongful Act” in an amount not to exceed
$100,000 which amount is part of and not in addition to the applicable
Limit of Liability as set forth in Item 2. of this “Coverage Part”, No
Retention shall apply to such amount.

47. The D&O/Corporate Coverage Part of the Management Liability Policy

contains the following pertinent definitions:

III. ADDITIONAL DEFINITIONS

In addition to the Definitions listed in SECTION III – DEFINITIONS of
the Common Policy Terms and Conditions Section, the following terms
shall have the meanings indicated below, when used in this “Coverage
Part”:

A. “Claim” means:

1. Any written demand presented for monetary “Damages” or non-monetary
relief for a “Wrongful Act”; or

2. Any complaint or similar pleading initiating a judicial, administrative,
regulatory, alternative dispute or arbitration proceeding, including any
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appeal resulting from it, to which an “Insured” is provided notice and
which subjects an “Insured” to a binding adjudication of liability for
monetary or non-monetary relief for a “Wrongful Act”.

However, “Claim” shall not include a labor or grievance proceeding
pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement.

All “Claims” made on account of a single “Wrongful Act” shall be treated
as a single “Claim” made on the date the earliest of the “Claims” was
made, regardless of whether that date is before or during the “Policy
Period” or, if applicable, during an Extended Reporting Period.

B. “Damages” means a monetary judgment, award or settlement, pre-judgment
interest and post-judgment interest. “Damages” also means punitive or
exemplary “Damages” or the multiple portions thereof, if insurable under the
applicable law of the jurisdiction most favorable to the insurability of such
“Damages” provided such jurisdiction is where:

1. Those “Damages” were awarded or imposed;
2. Any “Wrongful Act” occurred for which such “Damages” were awarded

or imposed;
3. The “Insured” resides, is incorporated or has its principal place of business;

or
4. We are incorporated or have our principal place of business.
“Damages” does not include:
5. Commissions, bonuses, profit sharing or severance payments; or
6. Payment by the “Insured Entity” of allegedly inadequate price or

consideration for the purchases of its own securities or the securities of a
“Subsidiary”; or

7. Civil, criminal or administrative fines, taxes or other penalties.

***

E. “Insured Individual” means:
1. Any past, present or future “Executive”, and
2. Any natural individual serving as a director or officer of an “Outside

Entity” at the direction of the “Insured Entity”.

F. “Insured” means the “Insured Entity” and any “Insured Individual”. With
respect to this “Coverage Part” only, “Insured Entity” also means a “Debtor in
Possession”.

***
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H. “Loss” means the amount the “Insured” is legally obligated to pay for
“Damages” and “Defense Expenses” for a covered “Claim” under this
“Coverage Part”.
“Loss” does not include:

1. Any amounts which an “Insured” is obligated to pay as result of a “Claim”
seeking relief or redress in any form other than monetary “Damages”;

2. Matters deemed uninsurable by law;
3. Wages or benefits or contributions payable under an “Employee Benefits

Plan”;
4. Any expenses associated with any accommodation required under the

Americans with Disabilities Act, the Civil Rights Act of 1964, rules or
regulations promulgated under them, amendments thereto or similar
provisions in any federal, state or local law or common law;

5. Any amount not indemnified by the “Insured Entity” for which an
“Insured Individual” is absolved from payment by reason of any covenant,
agreement or court order; or

6. Any amount allocated to non-covered “Loss” in accordance with Section
VIII – GENERAL CONDITIONS of the Common Policy Terms and
Conditions, Paragraph K. Allocation.

***

O. “Wrongful Act” means any actual or alleged act, error, omission,
misstatement, misleading statement, neglect, breach of duty committed or
attempted by:

1. an “Insured Individual” in his or her capacity as an “Insured Individual”;
2. an “Insured Individual” while serving as a director, officer or trustee of

any “Outside Entity”, if such service is at the written request or direction
of the “Insured Entity”; or

3. By the “Insured Entity”.

48. The D&O/Corporate Coverage Part of the Management Liability Policy contains

the following exclusions:

IV. ADDITIONAL EXCLUSIONS

In addition to the Exclusions listed in SECTION IV – EXCLUSIONS
of the Common Policy Terms and Conditions, the following
exclusions apply to this “Coverage Part”.

This insurance does not apply to “Loss” on account of any “Claim”
made against any “Insured”:
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A. Directly or indirectly based upon, arising out of, or attributable to
an “Insured” gaining any profit, remuneration or advantage to
which such “Insured” was not legally entitled; or

B. Directly or indirectly based upon, arising out of, or attributable to
any dishonest or fraudulent act or omission, any criminal act or
omission or any willful violation of any statute or regulation by
such “Insured”;

***

However, Paragraphs A., B., and C. above shall not apply unless a
judgment or other final adjudication adverse to any of the “Insured”
in such a “Claim” is obtained.

***

R. Directly or indirectly based upon, arising out of, or attributable to anti-trust
violations or unfair business practices, including but not limited to any actual
or alleged price fixing, price discrimination, restraint of trade, unfair business
practices, monopolistic practices or any actual or alleged violations of the
Sherman Antitrust Act of 1890, the Clayton Act of 1914, and any amendments
thereto, the Robinson Patman Act of 1938, the Federal Trade Commission Act
of 1914 or any rules or regulations promulgated in connection with the
statutes described above; or similar provision of any federal, state or local
statutory law or common law.

49. The Management Liability Policy contains a Past Acts Exclusion Endorsement,

which adds the following to SECTION IV – EXCLUSIONS of the Common Policy Terms

and Conditions Section of this “Policy”:

This insurance does not apply to “Loss” on account of any “Claim” made
against any “Insured” directly or indirectly arising out of, based upon or
attributable to any “Wrongful Act” which occurred on or before 03/16/2007.

THE CGL POLICY

50. Hanover issued Commercial General Liability Coverage, Policy No. ZHH

9530294 00, to Groeb Farms Inc. for the policy period May 1, 2012 through May 1,

2013, with policy limits of $1,000,000 for each occurrence and personal and advertising

injury, and a $2,000,000 limit in the general aggregate. (the “CGL Policy”). A true and
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correct copy of the relevant portion of the CGL Policy is attached hereto and incorporated

herein as Exhibit D.

51. The CGL Policy contains the following insuring agreement under

COVERAGE A BODILY INJURY AND PROPERTY DAMAGE LIABILITY, in

relevant part:

1. Insuring Agreement

a. We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as
damages because of “bodily injury” or “property damage” to which this
insurance applies. We will have the right and duty to defend the insured
against any “suit” seeking those damages. However, we will have no duty to
defend the insured against any “suit” seeking damages for “bodily injury” or
“property damage” to which the insurance does not apply. We may, at our
discretion, investigate any “occurrence” and settle any claim or “suit” that
may result. But:

(1) The amount we will pay for damages is limited as described in Section III
– Limits Of Insurance; and

(2) Our right and duty to defend, ends when we have used up the applicable
limit of insurance in the payment of judgments or settlements under
Coverages A or B or medical expenses under Coverage C.

No other obligation or liability to pay sums or perform acts or services is
covered unless explicitly provided for under Supplementary Payments –
Coverages A and B.

b. This insurance applies to “bodily injury’ and “property damage” only if:

(1) The “bodily injury” or “property damage” is caused by an “occurrence”
that takes place in the “coverage territory”;

(2) The “bodily injury” or “property damage” occurs during the policy period;
and

(3) Prior to the policy period, no insured listed under Paragraph 1. of Section
II – Who Is An Insured and no “employee” authorized by you to give or
receive notice of an “occurrence” or claim, knew that the “bodily injury”
or “property damage” had occurred, in whole or in part. If such a listed
insured or authorized “employee” knew, prior to the policy period, that the
“bodily injury” or “property damage” occurred, then any continuation,
change or resumption of such “bodily injury” or “property damage” during
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or after the policy period will be deemed to have been known prior to the
policy period.

52. “Bodily injury” and “property damage” are defined in the CGL Policy, as

amended by the Commercial General Liability Special Broadening Endorsement, as

follows, in relevant part:

3. “Bodily injury” means bodily injury, sickness or disease sustained by a
person. This includes mental anguish, mental injury, shock, fright or death
resulting from “bodily injury”, sickness or disease.

17. “Property damage” means:

a. Physical injury to tangible property, including all resulting loss
of use of that property. All such loss of use shall be deemed to
occur at the time of the physical injury that caused it; or

b. Loss of use of tangible property that is not physically injured.
All such loss of use shall be deemed to occur at the time of the
“occurrence” that caused it

53. The CGL Policy contains the following insuring agreement under

COVERAGE B PERSONAL AND ADVERTISING INJURY LIABILITY, in relevant

part:

1. Insuring Agreement

a. We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally
obligated to pay as damages because of “personal and
advertising injury” to which this insurance applies. We will
have the right and duty to defend the insured against any “suit”
seeking those damages. However, we will have no duty to
defend the insured against any “suit” seeking damages for
“personal and advertising injury” to which this insurance does
not apply. We may, at our discretion, investigate any offense
and settle any claim or “suit” that may result. But:

(1) The amount we will pay for damages is limited as
described in Section III – Limits Of Insurance; and

(2) Our right and duty to defend end when we have used up the
applicable limit of insurance in the payment of judgments
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or settlements under Coverages A or B or medical expenses
under Coverage C.

No other obligation or liability to pay sums or perform acts or
services is covered unless explicitly provided for under
Supplementary Payments – Coverages A and B.

b. This insurance applies to “personal and advertising injury”
caused by an offense arising out of your business but only if
the offense was committed in the “coverage territory” during
the policy period.

54. “Personal and advertising injury” is defined in the CGL Policy, as amended by the

Commercial General Liability Special Broadening Endorsement, as follows, in relevant part:

14. “Personal and advertising injury” means injury, including “consequential bodily
injury,” arising out of one or more of the following offenses:

a. False arrest, detention or imprisonment;
b. Malicious prosecution or abuse of process;
c. The wrongful eviction from, wrongful entry into, or invasion of the right of

private occupancy of a room, dwelling or premises that a person occupies,
committed by or on behalf of its owner, landlord or lessor;

d. Oral or written publication, in any manner, of material that slanders or libels a
person or organization or disparages a person’s or organization’s goods,
products or services;

e. Oral or written publication, in any manner, of material that violates a person’s
right of privacy;

f. The use of another’s advertising idea in your “advertisement”; or
g. Infringing upon another’s copyright, trade dress or slogan in your

“advertisement”.
h. Discrimination or humiliation (unless insurance thereof is prohibited by law)

that results in injury to the feels or reputation of a natural person…

COUNT I– DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

KNOWN RISK

55. Hanover incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-54 above as if fully stated herein

as this Paragraph 55.

56. Groeb Farms and the Groeb Executives knew or reasonably should have known

that there was a substantial probability of a loss before May 1, 2012, the inception date of both
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the Management Liability Policy and the CGL Policy, in connection with the events alleged in

the Underlying Complaints and admitted to in the Deferred Prosecution Agreement.

57. Accordingly, the known risk doctrine precludes coverage for the Underlying

Lawsuits.

58. Hanover therefore has no duty to defend or indemnify Groeb Farms or the Groeb

Executives in connection with the Underlying Lawsuits.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, HANOVER INSURANCE COMPANY, respectfully requests

this Honorable Court to declare and adjudge the controversy as follows:

A. Declare that Hanover has no duty to defend Groeb Farms, Ernest L. Groeb or

Troy L. Groeb in connection with the Moore Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy

and CGL Policy;

B. Declare that Hanover has no duty to indemnify Groeb Farms, Ernest L. Groeb or

Troy L. Groeb in connection with the Moore Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy

and CGL Policy;

C. Declare that Hanover has no duty to defend Groeb Farms in connection with the

Adee Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy and CGL Policy;

D. Declare that Hanover has no duty to indemnify Groeb Farms in connection with

the Adee Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy and CGL Policy; and

E. Grant any other relief that this Honorable Court deems just and equitable under

the circumstances, including the award of costs.
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COUNT II – DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

MANAGEMENT LIABILITY POLICY – EXCLUSION R

59. Hanover incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-58 above as if fully stated herein

as this Paragraph 59.

60. Exclusion R of the D&O Coverage Part of the Management Liability Policy

provides that the Policy does not apply to any claims “directly or indirectly based upon, arising

out of, or attributable to anti-trust violations or unfair business practices, including but not

limited to any actual or alleged price fixing, price discrimination, restraint of trade, unfair

business practices, monopolistic practices or any actual or alleged violations of the Sherman

Antitrust Act of 1890, the Clayton Act of 1914, and any amendments thereto, the Robinson

Patman Act of 1938, the Federal Trade Commission Act of 1914 or any rules or regulations

promulgated in connection with the statutes described above; or similar provision of any federal,

state or local statutory law or common law.”

61. The Underlying Lawsuits are directly or indirectly based upon, arise out of, and/or

are attributable to anti-trust violations or unfair business practices including but not limited to

price discrimination.

62. Exclusion R therefore applies to preclude coverage for the Underlying Lawsuits

and Hanover has no obligation to defend or indemnify Groeb Farms or the Groeb Executives in

connection with the Underlying Lawsuits.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, HANOVER INSURANCE COMPANY, respectfully requests

this Honorable Court to declare and adjudge the controversy as follows:

A. Declare that Hanover has no duty to defend Groeb Farms, Ernest L. Groeb or

Troy L. Groeb in connection with the Moore Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy;
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B. Declare that Hanover has no duty to indemnify Groeb Farms, Ernest L. Groeb or

Troy L. Groeb in connection with the Moore Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy;

C. Declare that Hanover has no duty to defend Groeb Farms in connection with the

Adee Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy;

D. Declare that Hanover has no duty to indemnify Groeb Farms in connection with

the Adee Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy; and

E. Grant any other relief that this Honorable Court deems just and equitable under

the circumstances, including the award of costs.

COUNT III – DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

MANAGEMENT LIABILITY POLICY – PAST ACTS ENDORSEMENT

63. Hanover incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-62 above as if fully stated herein

as this Paragraph 63.

64. Pursuant to the Past Acts Endorsement of the Management Liability Policy,

Hanover has no duty to defend or indemnify Groeb Farms, Ernest L. Groeb or Troy L. Groeb for

any “Loss” on account of any “Claim” made against any “Insured” directly or indirectly arising

out of, based upon or attributable to any “Wrongful Act” which occurred on or before

03/16/2007.

65. Plaintiffs in the Underlying Lawsuits allege that the Defendants’ conduct began

on or before 2002. The “Wrongful Acts” alleged by the Underlying Complaints therefore are

directly or indirectly arising out of, based upon or attributable to “Wrongful Acts” which

occurred on or before 03/16/2007.

66. Accordingly, the Past Acts Endorsement precludes coverage for the Underlying

Lawsuits.
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67. Pursuant to the terms of the Management Liability Policy, Hanover has no duty to

defend or indemnify Groeb Farms or the Groeb Executives in connection with the Underlying

Lawsuits.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, HANOVER INSURANCE COMPANY, respectfully requests

this Honorable Court to declare and adjudge the controversy as follows:

A. Declare that Hanover has no duty to defend Groeb Farms, Ernest L. Groeb or

Troy L. Groeb in connection with the Moore Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy;

B. Declare that Hanover has no duty to indemnify Groeb Farms, Ernest L. Groeb or

Troy L. Groeb in connection with the Moore Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy;

C. Declare that Hanover has no duty to defend Groeb Farms in connection with the

Adee Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy;

D. Declare that Hanover has no duty to indemnify Groeb Farms in connection with

the Adee Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy; and

E. Grant any other relief that this Honorable Court deems just and equitable under

the circumstances, including the award of costs.

COUNT IV – DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

MANAGEMENT LIABILITY POLICY – EXCLUSION A

68. Hanover incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-67 above as if fully stated herein

in this Paragraph 68.

69. Exclusion A of the D&O Coverage Part of the Management Liability Policy

provides that the Policy does not apply to any Claim that is “[d]irectly or indirectly based upon,

arising out of, or attributable to any dishonest or fraudulent act or omission, any criminal act or

omission or any willful violation of any statute or regulation by such “Insured.”
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70. Plaintiffs in the Underlying Lawsuits allege that the Defendants committed

dishonest, fraudulent, and criminal acts or omissions, and willfully violated statutes and

regulations concerning dumping, and other anti-competitive behavior.

71. By the Deferred Prosecution Agreement (Exhibit A to the Moore Complaint),

Groeb Farms admitted that it committed the alleged dishonest or fraudulent acts or omissions,

criminal acts or omissions or willful violations of any statute or regulation.

72. Accordingly, Exclusion A precludes coverage and Hanover has no duty to defend

or indemnify Groeb Farms or the Groeb Executives in connection with the Underlying Lawsuits.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, HANOVER INSURANCE COMPANY, respectfully requests

this Honorable Court to declare and adjudge the controversy as follows:

A. Declare that Hanover has no duty to defend Groeb Farms, Ernest L. Groeb or

Troy L. Groeb in connection with the Moore Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy;

B. Declare that Hanover has no duty to indemnify Groeb Farms, Ernest L. Groeb or

Troy L. Groeb in connection with the Moore Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy;

C. Declare that Hanover has no duty to defend Groeb Farms in connection with the

Adee Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy;

D. Declare that Hanover has no duty to indemnify Groeb Farms in connection with

the Adee Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy; and

E. Grant any other relief that this Honorable Court deems just and equitable under

the circumstances, including the award of costs.
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COUNT V – DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

MANAGEMENT LIABILITY POLICY – EXCLUSION B

73. Hanover incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-72 above as if fully stated herein

in this Paragraph 73.

74. Exclusion B of the D&O Coverage Part of the Management Liability Policy

provides that the Policy does not apply to any Claim that is “[d]irectly or indirectly based upon,

arising out of, or attributable to an “Insured” gaining any profit, remuneration or advantage to

which such “Insured” was not legally entitled.”

75. Plaintiffs in the Underlying Lawsuits allege that the defendants gained profit,

remuneration and advantage to which they were not legally entitled.

76. As set forth in the Deferred Prosecution Agreement (Exhibit A to the Moore

Complaint), Groeb Farms admitted that it committed the alleged conduct, and gained profit,

remuneration or advantage to which it was not legally entitled.

77. Accordingly, Exclusion B precludes coverage and Hanover has no duty to defend

or indemnify Groeb Farms or the Groeb Executives in connection with the Underlying Lawsuits.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, HANOVER INSURANCE COMPANY, respectfully requests

this Honorable Court to declare and adjudge the controversy as follows:

A. Declare that Hanover has no duty to defend Groeb Farms, Ernest L. Groeb or

Troy L. Groeb in connection with the Moore Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy;

B. Declare that Hanover has no duty to indemnify Groeb Farms, Ernest L. Groeb or

Troy L. Groeb in connection with the Moore Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy;

C. Declare that Hanover has no duty to defend Groeb Farms in connection with the

Adee Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy;
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D. Declare that Hanover has no duty to indemnify Groeb Farms in connection with

the Adee Lawsuit under the Management Liability Policy; and

E. Grant any other relief that this Honorable Court deems just and equitable under

the circumstances, including the award of costs.

COUNT VI – DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

CGL POLICY – COVERAGE A – INSURING AGREEMENT

78. Hanover incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-77 above as if fully stated herein

in this Paragraph 78.

79. Coverage A of the CGL Policy states in relevant part that “[w]e will pay those

sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of “bodily injury” or

“property damage” to which this insurance applies… .”

80. Plaintiffs in the Underlying Lawsuits do not allege “bodily injury” or “property

damage”, as those terms are defined in the CGL Policy, and therefore the Underlying Lawsuits

are outside the scope of coverage provided by the CGL Policy.

81. Accordingly, Hanover has no duty to defend or indemnify Groeb Farms or the

Groeb Executives in connection with the Underlying Lawsuits.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, HANOVER INSURANCE COMPANY, respectfully requests

this Honorable Court to declare and adjudge the controversy as follows:

A. Declare that Hanover has no duty to defend Groeb Farms, Ernest L. Groeb or

Troy L. Groeb in connection with the Moore Lawsuit under Coverage A of the CGL Policy;

B. Declare that Hanover has no duty to indemnify Groeb Farms, Ernest L. Groeb or

Troy L. Groeb in connection with the Moore Lawsuit under Coverage A of the CGL Policy;
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C. Declare that Hanover has no duty to defend Groeb Farms in connection with the

Adee Lawsuit under Coverage A of the CGL Policy;

D. Declare that Hanover has no duty to indemnify Groeb Farms in connection with

the Adee Lawsuit under Coverage A of the CGL Policy; and

E. Grant any other relief that this Honorable Court deems just and equitable under

the circumstances, including the award of costs.

COUNT VII – DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

CGL POLICY – COVERAGE B – INSURING AGREEMENT

82. Hanover incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-80 above as if fully stated herein

in this Paragraph 81.

83. Coverage B of the CGL Policy states in relevant part: “We will pay those sums

that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damage because of “personal and advertising

injury” to which this insurance applies. We will have the right and duty to defend the insured

against any “suit” seeking those damages.”

84. Plaintiffs in the Underlying Lawsuits do not allege “personal and advertising

injury” as that term is defined in the CGL Policy, and therefore the Underlying Lawsuits are

outside the scope of coverage provided by the CGL Policy.

85. Accordingly, Hanover has no duty to defend or indemnify Groeb Farms or the

Groeb Executives in connection with the Underlying Lawsuits.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, HANOVER INSURANCE COMPANY, respectfully requests

this Honorable Court to declare and adjudge the controversy as follows:

A. Declare that Hanover has no duty to defend Groeb Farms, Ernest L. Groeb or

Troy L. Groeb in connection with the Moore Lawsuit under Coverage B of the CGL Policy;
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B. Declare that Hanover has no duty to indemnify Groeb Farms, Ernest L. Groeb or

Troy L. Groeb in connection with the Moore Lawsuit under Coverage B of the CGL Policy;

C. Declare that Hanover has no duty to defend Groeb Farms in connection with the

Adee Lawsuit under Coverage B of the CGL Policy;

D. Declare that Hanover has no duty to indemnify Groeb Farms in connection with

the Adee Lawsuit under Coverage B of the CGL Policy; and

E. Grant any other relief that this Honorable Court deems just and equitable under

the circumstances, including the award of costs.

Respectfully submitted,

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By: /s/ Jeffrey A. Goldwater ___ _
One of the Attorneys for Plaintiff
Hanover Insurance Company
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